1	Amendment and Restatement of the
2	Constitution of the Rocky Hill Congregational Church
3	
4	THE CONSTITUTION OF THE ROCKY HILL CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH,
5	UNITED CHURCH OF CHRIST, ADOPTED MAY, 2003,
6	and AMENDED MAY 22, 2005 and JUNE 3, 2007 and JUNE 1, 2008 and JUNE 14, 2009
7 8	ARTICLE I
9	NAME AND ORIGIN
10	
11	The legal name of this Church shall be the Rocky Hill Congregational Church, United Church of
12	Christ. This Church was petitioned December 19, 1720; founded June 7, 1727; and incorporated
13	March 20, 1895 according to the laws of the State of Connecticut.
14	
15	ARTICLE II
16	PURPOSE
17	
18	The purpose of this Church shall be to unite followers of Jesus Christ in order to share in the
19	worship of God and to make God's will dominant in the lives of people, individually and
20 21	collectively, especially as God's will is set forth in the life, teachings, death, resurrection and living presence of Jesus Christ.
22	presence of Jesus Christ.
23	
24	ARTICLE III
25	POLITY
26	
27	This Church acknowledges Jesus Christ as its head, its government being vested in its members,
28	who exercise the right of control in all its affairs, subject, however, to the laws of the State of
29	Connecticut.
30	
31	This Church acknowledges its fellowship with the United Church of Christ and pledges itself to
32 33	share in its common work, especially as represented by the Hartford Association, the Connecticut Conference, and the General Synod. It seeks to encourage and participate in ecumenical activities
33 34	in the community and beyond.
35	in the community and beyond.
36	
37	ARTICLE IV
38	STATEMENT OF FAITH
39	
40	
	The Statement of Faith of the United Church of Christ expresses the faith of this Church:
41	•
42	We believe in You, O God, Eternal Spirit, God of our Savior Jesus Christ and our God, and to Your
42 43	•
42 43 44	We believe in You, O God, Eternal Spirit, God of our Savior Jesus Christ and our God, and to Your deeds we testify:
42 43	We believe in You, O God, Eternal Spirit, God of our Savior Jesus Christ and our God, and to Your

47				
48	You seek in holy love to save all people from aimlessness and sin.			
49				
50 51	You judge people and nations by Your righteous will declared through prophets and apostles.			
52 53	In Jesus Christ, the man of Nazareth, our crucified and risen Savior, You have come to us and shared our common lot, conquering sin and death and reconciling the world to Yourself.			
54				
55 56	You bestow upon us Your Holy Spirit, creating and renewing the church of Jesus Christ, binding in covenant faithful people of all ages, tongues, and races.			
57				
58 59	You call us into Your church to accept the cost and joy of discipleship, to be Your servants in the service of others, to proclaim the gospel to all the world and resist the powers of evil, to share in			
60 61	Christ's baptism and eat at his table, to join him in his passion and victory.			
62 63	You promise to all who trust You forgiveness of sins and fullness of grace, courage in the struggle for justice and peace, Your presence in trial and rejoicing, and eternal life in Your realm which has			
64	no end.			
65				
66	Blessing and honor, glory and power be unto You. Amen.			
67				
68				
69	ARTICLE V			
70	COVENANT			
71				
72	We covenant with the Lord and with one another and do bind ourselves in the presence of God to			
73	walk in all His ways, according as He is pleased to reveal Himself unto us.			
74				
75				
76	ARTICLE VI			
77	WORSHIP			
78				
79	Regular services of worship shall be held each Sunday morning. Any changes to this format shall			
80	be the responsibility of the ministerial staff and the Diaconate, with approval of the Church			
81	Council. The scheduling of other services of worship, including the celebration of the sacraments			
82	of Holy Communion and Baptism, shall be the responsibility of the ministerial staff and the			
83	Diaconate.			
84				
85	A DELCT E VIII			
86	ARTICLE VII			
87	MEMBERSHIP			
88 89	Persons desiring to unite with this Church upon (a) confirmation, (b) confession of faith, (c)			
90 91	reaffirmation of faith, or (d) by letter of transfer shall be received as members upon acceptance of their request by the Diaconate and upon their public affirmation of the Covenant. Baptism shall be			
92	a prerequisite to membership in the Church.			

93	
94	The request by any member for a letter of dismissal and recommendation to another Church shall
95	be granted by the Clerk. Dismissal shall be effected upon notification of reception into another
96	Church.
97	A manufact of the Charach marries to another locality should offer a reasonable time take his on her
98	A member of the Church moving to another locality should, after a reasonable time, take his or her
99	letters to the Church of his or her choice. If such member should desire for some special reason to
00	remain a member of this Church, he or she should at least annually indicate such desire. A member who has ceased for two years to attend the worship services of the Church or during that time shall
02	have indicated no interest in the work of the Church in spite of kindly approaches by the members
03	of the ministerial staff, the Diaconate or others, may be placed upon the inactive list by vote of the
04	Diaconate. Such a person, upon approval of his or her request by the Diaconate, may be restored to
.05	the active membership roll.
06	www.yw.memowazanp.rom
07	A person who wishes to participate in the life of the Church while maintaining membership in
08	another Church may be received as an associate member by the same process as regular active
09	members are received. Associate members shall have all the rights and duties of regular active
10	members except the right to a letter of transfer to another Church.
11	
12	Upon application to and approval by the Diaconate, associate members may secure full
13	membership in the Church.
14	
15	Associate membership shall terminate upon reception into full membership, upon written
16	resignation or death, or upon moving away from the vicinity of Rocky Hill.
17	
18	All members of this Church are expected to strive to follow the principles set forth in the Covenant,
19	and to seek meaningful ways to support the principles that this Church upholds. They are specifically asked to share in the life and work of the Church, to contribute to its support and
20	benevolences, and to care for its spiritual welfare.
22	benevolences, and to care for its spiritual wertare.
23	From time to time as warranted, the Diaconate, in cooperation with the Senior Minister, the Church
24	Clerk, and the Financial Secretary, shall convene a membership committee to review the Church
25	membership rolls and, after careful review and appropriate contact, submit a proposed list of
26	members to be placed on the inactive list. Such members shall only be declared inactive upon the
27	vote of the Diaconate.
28	
29	
30	ARTICLE VIII
31	GOVERNMENT
32	
33	The fiscal year of the Church shall begin on May 1 and end on April 30. The books shall be closed
34	and reports rendered as of the end of each fiscal year. All references to a year in this Constitution
•	NUMBER OF A LINEAU VEAL

- 3 -

The Church shall have two regular meetings each year, an Annual Meeting and a Budget and Elections Meeting, and, in addition, shall have special meetings as may be called by the Council or by the Officers or members of the Church, as provided herein.

The Annual Meeting of the Church shall be held within 60 days of the close of each fiscal year, on a date and time as the Council shall determine. At the Annual Meeting, the Church shall receive reports of the activities and financial expenditures, if any, of the Council and each of the Officers, Boards, Committees, and the various organizations associated with the Church during the previous year, and, in the case of the Boards and Committees, an outline as to its activities planned for the coming year, may amend either the local budget or the benevolence budget, or both, as may be deemed necessary or appropriate, and shall transact any other proper business. The call for the Annual Meeting shall be issued by the Clerk by posting the call on the Church building at least five days before the date of the meeting and by notice given from the pulpit and published in the bulletin on the two Sundays preceding the meeting. All annual reports shall be published and made available at least one week prior to the date of the Annual Meeting.

The Budget and Elections Meeting of the Church shall be held during the first two weeks of March, or on such other reasonable date and at such other time as the Council shall determine. Both the local budget and the benevolence budget for the next fiscal year shall be adopted at such meeting. These budgets shall be separate and distinct. No monies pledged to the support of one shall be used toward the support of the other. The Church shall determine at such meeting how monies and other property received by the Church during the next fiscal year and not pledged specifically for one budget or the other, or for endowment or benevolence, shall be apportioned. Any such monies and other property not spent or disposed of during such fiscal year may be reapportioned by vote of the Church at the next Annual Meeting. The Church shall act on the recommendation of the Church Fair Committee regarding the allocation of the net proceeds of the most recent Church Fair.

In addition to the financial agenda articulated above, the Church, at the Budget and Elections Meeting, shall elect candidates to replace each incumbent Officer and each member of a Board or Committee whose term is to expire the next April 30, or shall re-elect such incumbent Officer or member if permitted under the terms hereof. The Church shall also elect candidates to fill any other vacancies. The terms of the candidates so elected or re-elected shall commence on the following May 1.

Notice of the Budget and Elections Meeting shall be given in the same manner as that for the Annual Meeting. All budgets and nominations shall be published and made available at least one week prior to the date of the Budget and Elections Meeting.

Special meetings of the Church shall be called by the Council or upon the request in writing of any three Officers or five members of the Church. Notice of any such meeting shall be given in the same manner as that for the Annual Meeting. No matter not included in the call to a special meeting shall be brought before such meeting.

Any meeting that has been duly called may be canceled in advance if the persons calling the meeting agree with the cancellation, subject to the following requirements:

- 1. If the meeting was called by a vote of the Council, then a majority vote of the Council shall be required to cancel the meeting.
  - 2. If the meeting was called by a request from three Officers, then at least two of those three Officers must agree to the cancellation.
  - 3. If the meeting was called by a group of five or more members of the church, then a majority of the calling group must agree to the cancellation, with the additional stipulation that there must no longer be five or more members of the group who wish to hold the meeting.

In the event that a meeting is canceled subject to the appropriate foregoing provision, advance notification of such cancellation shall be made in a manner most appropriate to the situation, as determined by the Moderator, the Senior Minister, and the Clerk.

The Church may, at any regular or special meeting, vote to form an ad hoc committee, e.g., a Search Committee or a Social Action Committee, provided, however, in the case of a special meeting, that a proposal to form such a committee shall have been included in the call. The initial members of such committee shall be elected by the Church. In the case of a Ministerial Search Committee, these members shall include one member of each Board, one member of the Music Committee, one member of the Stewardship Committee and three members of the Church who are not a member of a Board or either of the two represented Committees. Additional and successor members shall be nominated by the Nominating Committee and appointed by the Council as necessary. The responsibilities of such committee shall be established by the Church, although they may be clarified by the Council from time to time. Each such committee shall report to the Council on a regular basis, no less often than quarterly, and more often if the Council shall so require. The existence of each such committee shall terminate upon the acceptance of its final report by the Council or as the Church may otherwise provide.

Forty-two members of the Church shall constitute a quorum at all regular and special meetings, but a smaller number may adjourn to a fixed date. No person other than a confirmed or covenanted member of the Church in actual attendance shall be entitled to vote on any matter brought before the Church at any such meeting. "Roberts Rules of Order" shall be observed in the conduct of the regular and special meetings of the Church.

# ARTICLE IX STAFF, OFFICERS, COUNCIL, BOARDS AND COMMITTEES

# (A) MINISTERIAL STAFF

The ministerial staff shall consist of one or more pastors who have been ordained as ministers of the United Church of Christ, and shall consist of two or more such pastors until such time as the Church may, by a two-thirds vote, determine that there shall be fewer such pastors. Whenever a vacancy or vacancies in the ministerial staff should occur and no such two-thirds vote should be registered, or whenever the Church should determine that an additional pastor should be called, the Church shall form, and shall elect the members of, a Search Committee. Such Committee shall be charged with the responsibility of nominating a candidate or candidates to fill such vacancy or

vacancies or to find such additional pastor, as the case may be. Such Search Committee, working with the Council, shall determine the limits of the compensation it may offer such candidates, and, working with the Diaconate, the Council, and the incumbent members of the ministerial staff, the division of responsibilities among the pastors. Each candidate for the ministerial staff shall be called upon the approval of two-thirds of the members of the Church present at a special meeting of the Church held for such purpose.

233 234 235

236

237

238

228

229

230 231

232

The termination of a relationship between a member of the ministerial staff and the Church shall be subject to not less than sixty days notice unless other terms are mutually agreed upon. A member of the ministerial staff may tender his or her resignation to the Church in such manner as he or she may determine appropriate.

239 240

241

242 243

244

A member of the ministerial staff may be dismissed for cause upon the three-fourths vote of the Council and the Diaconate in joint meeting, subject, nevertheless, to the right of appeal to the Church, which shall consider and decide on such appeal at a special meeting. The Church, at any regular meeting, or at a special meeting called for the purpose, may, by a three-fourths vote, request the resignation of, or dismiss, a member of the ministerial staff.

245 246

#### (B) MUSIC STAFF

247 248 249

250

251

252

253

254

255

256

257

258

259

260

The music staff shall consist of the Church Organist, the Choir Director and such other persons to fill other positions as the Church may determine. The Church Organist and the Choir Director may be the same person. Whenever a vacancy in the music staff should occur, the Council shall convene a Music Search Committee consisting of 3 members of the Music Committee, one member of the Diaconate, one member of the Personnel Committee, and 2 at-large members who are not members of the Diaconate or the Music Committee. The Music Search Committee shall be responsible for recommending to the Council a candidate to fill such vacancy. The Church may, at any regular meeting, or at a special meeting called for such purpose, call for a Music Search Committee to recommend to the Council one or more additional musicians to be hired as members of the music staff. The Council shall act upon the recommendation of the Music Search Committee in determining whether to hire such candidate, and shall determine the compensation to be paid to such candidate until such time as his or her compensation may be set by the Church at a regular meeting, or at a special meeting called for such purpose.

261 262 263

264

# (C) EDUCATION STAFF

265 266 267

268

269

270 271

272

The Church may hire a Director of Christian Education and such other Education positions as the Church may determine. Whenever a vacancy in the education staff should occur, the Council shall convene an Education Search Committee consisting of 3 members of the Board for Christian Education, one member of the Personnel Committee, and 3 at-large members who are not members of the Board for Christian Education. The Education Search Committee shall be responsible for recommending to the Council a candidate to fill such vacancy. The Church may, at any regular meeting, or at a special meeting called for such purpose, call for an Education Search Committee to recommend to the Council one or more additional candidates to be hired as members of the education staff. The Council shall act upon the recommendation of the Education Search

Committee in determining whether to hire such candidate, and shall determine the compensation to be paid to such candidate until such time as his or her compensation may be set by the Church at a regular meeting, or at a special meeting called for such purpose.

#### (D) OFFICERS

The Officers of the Church shall be a Moderator, a Clerk, a Treasurer, an Assistant Treasurer, a Treasurer of Benevolences, and an Historian. No person may concurrently hold two or more offices. Only members of the Church (including Associate Members) are eligible to be elected as Officers. No Officer, other than the Assistant Treasurer or the Historian, may concurrently serve on any Board except in an ex officio capacity.

The Moderator shall be elected for a term of two years, and may be reelected to a second consecutive two year term. A member who has completed two full terms as Moderator shall be ineligible for reelection as Moderator until two fiscal years have elapsed following the completion of the second consecutive term. All other Officers shall hold office for the term of one-year or until his or her successor is elected and has commenced service. One person may hold any office for any number of successive terms (except as described for the Moderator).

The Church shall make appropriate insurance provisions to indemnify each Church member for judgments, reasonable expenses, amounts paid, etc. for their personal liability for acts or omissions within the scope of their duties as Church volunteers.

The duties of the Officers of the Church are as follows:

#### (1) MODERATOR

The Moderator is the lay leader of the Church, and shall work closely with the ministerial staff and the Council in developing and promoting the agenda of the Church. The Moderator shall preside at all business meetings of the Church and the Council held during his or her term of office, except that any member of the Church whose term as Moderator expired at the end of the previous fiscal year shall preside at the subsequent Annual Meeting. The Moderator shall have the authority to execute and/or endorse legal documents on behalf of the Church. The Moderator shall appoint two members to the Advocacy Panel as needed (subject to the requirements set forth in the appropriate sections of this Constitution), and with the guidance of the Council, shall appoint members to all ad hoc committees sanctioned by the Council. The Moderator shall also be an ex officio member of all ad hoc committees.

#### (2) CLERK

The Clerk shall issue calls for Church meetings; shall keep faithful records of all meetings of the Church and the Council; shall keep a record of the membership of the Church, including dates of admission, dismissal, and death; and shall write letters of dismissal, record baptisms and have custody of the membership records of the Church.

#### (3) TREASURER

The Treasurer shall have charge of all Church funds other than (1) the Diaconate Funds and (2) those funds under the charge of the Treasurer of Benevolences, shall keep proper records showing the amount and the whereabouts of such funds, shall make available a summary of such records to the members of the Church at least quarterly, and shall invest and reinvest the same under the general supervision of the Board of Trustees, except that illiquid or unusual investments shall be entered into only with the specific consent of such Board. Except as approved by the Trustees subject to their responsibilities outlined in Article IX (F)(2), each check written on each Church checking account, other than those checking accounts holding (1) some or all of the Diaconate Funds and (2) benevolence funds, shall be signed by two of the following: the Treasurer, the Assistant Treasurer, and those members of the Board of Trustees, other than the Treasurer, authorized to sign checks by the Board of Trustees. Each such check shall represent a disbursement previously budgeted or approved by the Board of Trustees, or an expense mandated by the terms of a gift accepted by the Church.

The Treasurer shall have the authority to execute and/or endorse any financial legal documents related to investments, investment accounts, or banking arrangements of the Church, provided that such documents are compliant with the policies of the Church or the stated directions of the Board of Trustees.

# 5 (4) TREASURER OF BENEVOLENCES

The Treasurer of Benevolences shall have charge of all contributions and collections for benevolences, shall keep proper records showing the amount and the whereabouts of all such contributions and collections held by the Church, shall make available a summary of such records to the members of the Church at least quarterly, and shall invest and reinvest the same under the general supervision of the Board for Missions, except that illiquid or unusual investments shall be entered into only with the specific consent of such Board. Except as approved by the Board for Missions subject to their responsibilities outlined in Article IX (F)(4), each check written on each Church checking account holding benevolence funds shall be signed by two of the following: the Treasurer of Benevolences, the Assistant Treasurer of Benevolences, and those members of the Board for Missions, other than the Treasurer of Benevolences and the Assistant Treasurer of Benevolences, authorized to sign checks by the Board for Missions. Each such check shall represent a disbursement previously budgeted or approved by the Board for Missions or mandated by the terms of a gift accepted by the Church.

The Treasurer of Benevolences shall have the authority to execute and/or endorse any financial legal documents related to benevolence-related investments, investment accounts, or banking arrangements of the Church, provided that such documents are compliant with the policies of the Church or the stated directions of the Board for Missions.

366	<b>(5)</b>	HIST	ORIAN
-----	------------	------	-------

The Historian shall be responsible for keeping a record of notable activities within the life of the Church and its participation in community and denominational affairs and for keeping an archive of photographs, documents, and other relevant materials that reflect the life of the Church.

# (E) THE COUNCIL

**Agenda & Goals:** The Council shall be the overall policy and planning board of the Church. Its primary role is to create the vision and guidance by which both short term and long term objectives of the Church can be achieved.

The primary responsibilities of the Council include:

- 1. *Visioning*: Articulating a vision of the life of the Church, and establishing a strategic plan and objectives for achieving that vision.
- 2. *Budgeting*: Recommending separate financial budgets for the local operations and benevolences of the Church, such recommendations to be approved by the congregation at a duly called meeting of the Church.
- 3. *Personnel*: Overseeing all Church staff, including the development and administration of employment contracts, personnel policies, and compensation.

#### **Itemization of duties:**

Visioning

- a. Develop a long term vision statement for the Church.
- b. Establish a strategic plan that sets forth a framework for moving toward the vision.
- c. Communicate (to all staff, Boards and Committees) a set of annual objectives in support of the vision and strategic plan.
- d. Receive and review reports from staff, Boards, and Committees regarding progress towards these annual objectives.

#### Budgeting

e. Accept a proposed local operating budget from the Board of Trustees, and, after due deliberation and revision as appropriate, recommend a budget for adoption at the Budget & Elections Meeting.

f. Accept a proposed benevolence budget from the Board for Missions, and, after due deliberation and revision as appropriate, recommend a budget for adoption at the Budget & Elections Meeting.

g. Propose subsequent adjustments to either budget for approval at the Annual Meeting, if appropriate.

# Personnel

 h. Appoint the members of the Personnel Committee to oversee and implement a consistent personnel policy. Approve and update such policy, upon the recommendation of the Personnel Committee.

- i. Approve all employment contracts for Church employees, where such contracts are deemed appropriate.
  - j. Receive an annual performance evaluation for each Church employee.
  - k. Coordinate and approve all proposed salary adjustments, with the financial consequences of such adjustments to be appropriately reflected in the proposed local operating budget.

413 414

415

418

419 420

421

422 423

424

425

426

427

428

429

430

431

432

433

434

435

436

437

438

439

440

441

#### Administration

- 1. Set the time and date for the Annual and Budget and Elections Meetings, and prepare and submit a report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting.
- m. Appoint subcommittees or ad hoc committees to consider and make recommendations on specific issues, as appropriate.
- n. Call for written or oral reports from any Officer, organization, ad hoc committee, or individual member of the Church, as may seem necessary or expedient for carrying out its role.
- o. Call a special meeting of the Church for the purpose of forming and electing the members of a Search Committee when a vacancy occurs in the ministerial staff.
- p. Request any Board or Committee to undertake additional duties and responsibilities of a related nature to the duties and responsibilities of such Board or Committee herein stated.
- q. Submit to a regular or special meeting of the Church any proposal to buy, sell, assign, convey or mortgage real property or other assets of the Church, or borrow under the good name of the Church.
- r. Establish reasonable and equitable transition arrangements when amendments to this Constitution result in changes in the number of or terms of Officers, Board members, or Committee members.
- s. Approve unbudgeted expenditures from reserves up to ten percent of the annual local budget for any single project or purpose, including all related items, without prior approval of the Church. All other major expenditures exceeding budgeted funds and not otherwise provided for by committed special contributions, pledges, or fund-raising events and/or transactions previously approved by the Church and requiring the mortgaging or selling of property or the borrowing of money, shall not be made without the approval by the Church.

442443444

445

#### **Membership and Meetings:** The Council shall be comprised of the following members:

- 446 Moderator
- 447 Clerk
- 448 Treasurer
- 449 Ministerial Staff
- 450 Chairperson of Diaconate
- 451 Chairperson of Board of Trustees
- Chairperson of Board for Christian Education
- 453 Chairperson of Board for Missions
- Chairperson of Stewardship Committee

Three at-large members, each elected for a term of three years (staggered), such members who are not concurrently members of any of the four Boards already represented on the Council. At-large members of the Council must be members of the Church.

It is expected that the Chairperson of each Board shall be a member of the Council. However, in the event that a Chairperson is unable to serve in this capacity, that Board shall appoint (or elect) a Co-Chairperson or Vice Chairperson to fulfill this role.

The Council shall meet as necessary, such meetings to include the agenda items listed below.

1. A meeting shall be held to review and update the Vision statement, the Strategic Plan, and objectives to be articulated for the coming years.

2. A meeting shall be held to plan and coordinate the calendar of events for the ensuing year, and to ensure that the Church's objectives are appropriately assigned for implementation.

3. A meeting shall be held approximately two months in advance of the Budget and Elections Meeting, for the purpose of hearing and acting on the recommendations of the Personnel Committee. Salary recommendations for the subsequent fiscal year shall be approved and provided to the Board of Trustees for incorporation into the proposed local operating budget.

4. A meeting shall be held approximately one month in advance of the Budget and Elections Meeting, at which time the Council shall approve the local operating and benevolence budgets which will be submitted to the Budget and Elections meeting for final membership approval.

5. A meeting shall be held in advance of the Annual Meeting, to hear the results of the Stewardship campaign, and to decide upon any recommendations (to be brought to the Annual Meeting) for budget adjustments and/or supplemental fundraising campaigns, if needed.

The Council may hold additional meetings as the Moderator or its members deem to be warranted.
The Moderator shall preside at all meetings. Minutes of each Council meeting shall be kept, and shall be made available to any member of the Church, upon request, for inspection and copying.

Though not members of Council, Chairpersons of the Nominating and Music Committees have an important voice in the visioning activity of Council and are encouraged to attend and participate in its meetings whenever possible.

 Meetings of the Council shall be open to all members of the Church, and such members shall be made to feel welcome. Such members, with the permission of the Moderator, may participate in the Council's discussions. Any member of the Church wishing to address the Council on any subject not on the Council's planned agenda, but within the scope of its responsibilities and interests, shall be permitted to do so if he or she obtains the prior consent of the Moderator, which consent shall not be withheld unreasonably. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Moderator may, under extraordinary circumstances, close the meeting to all but members of the Council. The Moderator's reasoning for such closure shall be fully articulated to those Church members at the meeting who are not members of the Council, and shall be noted in the minutes of such meeting.

**Quorum and voting privileges**: For any motion requiring a vote, a quorum shall be declared if at least five members eligible to vote on the motion are present. All Council members are eligible to vote on all matters brought before the Council, with the following exceptions:

- 1. The Moderator shall only be eligible to vote on a matter in order to break a tie. The Moderator shall not be counted in the determination of any quorum.
- 2. The Treasurer shall not be eligible to vote on any matter directly relating to the investment or disbursement of funds. The Treasurer shall be eligible to vote on any matter pertaining to personnel policy and administration, including matters relating to staff salaries.
- 3. Ministerial staff members shall not be eligible to vote on any matter pertaining to their own employment status, including salary actions. As such, the ministerial staff shall not be eligible to vote on the total local budget recommendation, but may vote on any budget issue that does not include any element of their direct or indirect financial compensation.

**Boards and Supporting Committees**: The Council shall ensure that the four Boards, as well as the Stewardship Committee, the Personnel Committee, the Auditing Committee, the Advocacy Panel, and the Nominating Committee are appropriately fulfilling their responsibilities. In addition, the Council may assign certain tasks or objectives to any Board or Committee in order to efficiently and effectively further and accomplish the Vision and Strategic Plan of the Church.

Boards and Committees are expected to achieve their objectives autonomously. No decision appropriately reached by any Board or Committee shall require the subsequent review or approval of the Council (unless expressly requested by the Board or Committee), nor shall the Council have the authority to overturn any decision duly reached by a Board or Committee unless a motion to overturn is approved by at least seven (7) voting members of the Council.

#### (F) THE BOARDS

535 The536 and537 Edu

There shall be four Boards established to provide guidance and leadership to the Church in its life and activities. These Boards shall be the Diaconate, the Board of Trustees, the Board for Christian Education and the Board for Missions. Each member of the ministerial staff shall be a member ex officio of each Board. No person may be an elected member of more than one Board at any one time. Minutes of each meeting of each Board shall be kept, and shall be made available to any member of the Church, upon request, for inspection and copying.

Meetings of each Board shall be open to all members of the Church, and such members shall be made to feel welcome. Such members, with the permission of the presiding member of the Board, may participate in the Board's discussions. Any member of the Church wishing to address any Board on any subject not on such Board's planned agenda, but within the scope of its

responsibilities and interests, shall be permitted to do so if he or she obtains the prior consent of the

- presiding member of such Board, which consent shall not be withheld unreasonably.
- Notwithstanding the foregoing, the presiding member of a Board may, under extraordinary
- circumstances, or, in the case of the Diaconate, at any time that disbursements from the Diaconate
- Funds are to be discussed, close the meeting to all but members of such Board. The presiding
- member's reasoning for such closure shall be fully articulated to those Church members at the
- meeting who are not members of such Board, and shall be noted in the minutes of such meeting.

553554

# **Membership and Meetings:**

555556

557

558

559

Each Board shall meet as needed, usually monthly from September through June. Additional meetings may be held as deemed necessary by the Council or the Chair of the Board. In consultation with appropriate staff members, Boards will follow agendas and utilize meeting time to maximize attention to priority responsibilities (defined below), with routine tasks delegated to individuals or subcommittees.

560561562

563

564

565

566

Each Board member shall be elected to serve a term of three years, unless filling a vacated unexpired term. A member may serve two consecutive terms and shall be eligible for re-election, or for appointment to fill the unexpired term of another member, two years after the expiration of his or her second consecutive term in office. Board members must be members of the Church. Ex officio members of Boards are non-voting members. The membership of each Board shall be as follows:

567568569

The Diaconate shall consist of twelve elected members, with four members elected at each Budget and Elections Meeting. Although a member's services on the Diaconate shall not extend beyond the term(s) for which he or she is elected, each member shall be ordained for life.

571572573

570

The Board of Trustees shall consist of the Treasurer (ex officio) plus nine elected members, with three members elected at each Budget and Elections Meeting.

574575576

577

The Board for Christian Education shall consist of the Director of Christian Education (ex officio) plus nine elected members, with three members elected at each Budget and Elections Meeting.

578579580

The Board for Missions shall consist of the Treasurer of Benevolences (ex officio) plus nine elected members, with three members elected at each Budget and Elections Meeting.

582 583

581

The goals, duties, responsibilities and concerns of each of the Boards shall be as follows:

584

#### (1) DIACONATE

585586587

#### Agenda & Goals:

The Diaconate shall be responsible for the development and enrichment of the spiritual life of the Church, its members, and the community. The work of the Diaconate shall reflect the annual vision and goals established by the Council.

591 592

The primary responsibilities of the Diaconate include:

- 1. *Spiritual Welfare:* The Diaconate shall develop and administer policies designed to lift up and enrich the Christian faith of all members and participants in the life of the Church.
  - 2. *Membership Vitality:* The Diaconate shall design and implement programs to attract and orient new members to the Church, and to actively engage existing members in the life of the Church.
  - 3. *Ministering*: The Diaconate shall minister to individual members and friends with special spiritual, visitation, and/or financial needs.

#### **Itemization of duties:**

#### Spiritual Welfare

- a. In cooperation with the ministerial staff, develop, evaluate, and enhance all elements of worship and spiritual growth.
- b. Assist in the preparation and administration of the sacraments.
- c. Coordinate with the Music Committee in the development of musical programs, staff, and capabilities that support all worship opportunities.
- d. In cooperation with the Board for Christian Education and the ministerial staff, coordinate the development of adult education resources and opportunities.
- e. Advise the ministerial staff and the congregation on matters of faith and morals when such become subjects at issue in the Church.
- f. Schedule regular and special services of worship and regulate the use of the Sanctuary and Chapel.
- g. Provide liturgists for worship, as needed.
- h. Establish procedures and duties for the ushers, and ensure that the Ushering Committee members are appropriately advised.
- i. Arrange for the hiring of temporary ministers when necessary, either for a single service, or for extended periods of interim vacancy.

#### Membership Vitality

- j. Implement programs designed to attract new members into the Church, including advertising where appropriate.
- k. Implement programs designed to enhance the activity, participation, and spiritual vitality of all Church members.
- 1. Confirm requests for membership in the Church, and authorize any revisions to the membership roll. Periodically convene a membership committee to review and recommend changes in membership status, as detailed in Article VII.

#### *Ministering*

- m. In participation with the ministerial staff, ensure that the ordinary and special needs of members and friends are appropriately met, including visitation, counseling, pastoral care, and other forms of assistance.
- n. Administer, invest and reinvest, and, in consultation with one or more members of the ministerial staff, distribute the Diaconate Funds, which shall be used to assist members of the Church and their families who are in emergency need, and, as appropriate, members of the community. These funds shall be financed through special offerings and by appropriations from the current budget, if required.

#### 639 Administration

- o. Recommend to the Council a member to represent the Diaconate on the Personnel Committee
- p. Provide input to the Personnel Committee regarding the job performance of and salary recommendations for the ministerial staff.
- q. When necessary, provide one member to serve on a Music Search Committee, as defined in Article IX(B).
- r. Prepare and submit a report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting.
- s. Submit an accounting of the Diaconate Funds to the Church at the Annual Meeting, which accounting shall not identify the recipient of any disbursement from these Funds.

649 650

640

641642

643

644

645

646

647 648

#### **Supporting Committees:**

The Diaconate shall ensure that the Flower, Inreach, Music, and Ushering Committees are appropriately fulfilling their responsibilities.

653654

651

652

# (2) BOARD OF TRUSTEES

655656657

658

659

#### Agenda & Goals:

The Board of Trustees shall be responsible for the overall physical and financial well being of the Church and church property. The work of the Board of Trustees shall reflect the annual vision and goals established by the Council.

660661662

663

664

665

The primary responsibilities of the Board of Trustees include:

- 1. *Property:* The Board of Trustees shall be responsible for the overall maintenance and improvement of all Church property.
- 2. Budget: The Board of Trustees shall administer the local Church operating budget.
- 3. *Investment*: The Board of Trustees shall oversee the investment of local funds.

666667668

669

670

671

672

673

#### **Itemization of duties:**

**Property** 

- a. Supervise the care, custody and use of the physical property of the Church.
- b. Establish and enforce regulations for use of the real property of the Church, other than the Sanctuary and the Chapel, and determine and collect any appropriate fee for the use of such property by any organization not affiliated with the Church.
- c. Maintain adequate property coverage for all Church insurance needs.

674675676

677

678

679

680

681

682

683

684

#### Budget

- d. Draw up and recommend a preliminary annual budget to the Council after consultation with all other Boards and Committees.
- e. Administer the local budget upon its acceptance and approval by the Church, including supervision of the Treasurer and Assistant Treasurer, as appropriate.
- f. Approve unbudgeted expenditures from reserves up to ten percent of the annual local budget for any single project, including all related items, without prior approval of the Church. All other major expenditures exceeding budgeted funds and not otherwise provided for by committed special contributions, pledges, or fund-raising events and/or

- transactions previously approved by the Church and requiring the mortgaging or selling of property or the borrowing of money, shall not be made without the prior recommendation of the Council and approval by the Church.
- g. Designate at least two of its members, other than the Treasurer, as authorized signatories on any and all checking accounts maintained by the Church other than checking accounts in which funds allocated to either the benevolence budgets or the Diaconate Funds are maintained. The Board <a href="mailto:may">may</a> also designate the Financial Secretary as an authorized signatory. The Treasurer and Assistant Treasurer shall also have signature authority for such checking accounts. Each such checking account shall require two authorized signatures on all checks, unless such check is otherwise exempted by the Trustees from this two signature requirement by virtue of the amount or purpose of the check. The Board of Trustees may authorize the use of alternative funds transfer technologies, e.g., on-line bill paying.

#### Investment

- h. Establish investment policies and make major investment decisions concerning the funds under its control, in consultation with the Treasurer, making sure that such investment policies and decisions are in keeping with commonly accepted guidelines for investment by fiduciaries. The Board of Trustees shall oversee the activities of the Treasurer in this regard, and shall ensure that all investments made by the Treasurer, singularly and in the aggregate, are legal for fiduciaries under Connecticut law.
- i. Manage the cash and invested assets, other than those assets under the control of the Board for Missions or the Diaconate.

#### Other Financial Duties

- j. Maintain adequate liability insurance coverage. This shall include insurance coverage to indemnify each Church member for judgments, reasonable expenses, amounts paid, etc. for their personal liability for acts or omissions within the scope of their duties as Church volunteers.
- k. Envision and develop alternative financial programs to supplement revenues and to promote the continued financial vitality of the Church.
- 1. Administer the awarding of college scholarships from funds designated for such purpose.

#### Administration

- m. Recommend to the Council a member to represent the Board of Trustees on the Personnel Committee.
- n. Provide input to the Personnel Committee regarding the job performance of and salary recommendations for the custodial staff and the Financial Secretary.
- o. Prepare and submit a report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting.
- p. Appoint an Assistant Treasurer from among the members of the Board, to be available to assist the Treasurer as needed.

#### **Supporting Committees:**

The Board of Trustees shall ensure that the Church Fair and Churchkeeping committees are appropriately fulfilling their responsibilities. The Board of Trustees shall take an interest in and support the work of the Stewardship Committee, as requested by the Stewardship Committee or the Council.

# (3) BOARD FOR CHRISTIAN EDUCATION

731732733

#### Agenda & Goals:

- The Board for Christian Education shall develop and promote educational opportunities for all
- Church members and youth. The work of the Board for Christian Education shall reflect the annual vision and goals established by the Council.

737 738

The primary responsibilities of the Board for Christian Education include:

739 740

Church School: The Board for Christian Education shall develop and administer all aspects of the Church School program.
 Youth: The Board for Christian Education shall develop and promote spiritual and

741 742 743

fellowship activities for Church youth and their families.

3. Resources: The Board for Christian Education shall enhance and promote the educational

resources available to all members, including the Church library.

744

### **Itemization of duties:**

745746

#### Church School

747 748

749

750

751

752

753

- a. In cooperation with the Director of Christian Education, evaluate, develop, and administer the Church School educational program
- b. Review and select all curriculum materials for the Church School.
- c. Appoint a Church School Superintendent, if necessary.

d. Recruit and train teachers, and ensure that appropriate guidelines and policies for child supervision are maintained, understood, and followed by all with supervisory responsibilities.

754 755

e. Ensure that pre-school nursery and child care opportunities are available and appropriately supervised during all regularly scheduled Sunday morning worship services.

756 757 758

#### Youth

759760

f. Develop, coordinate, and promote spiritual, educational, fellowship and service opportunities for Church youth and their families, as appropriate.

761762

g. Recruit and train Youth Group leaders and advisors.

adult education resources and opportunities.

762 763

#### Resources

764765766

h. Oversee the administration and promotion of the Church Library, including the appointment of a Church Librarian, if necessary.
i. In cooperation with the Diaconate and the ministerial staff, coordinate the development of

767 768

Administration

770771

769

j. Recommend to the Council a member to represent the Board for Christian Education on the Personnel Committee.

772 773 k. Provide input to the Personnel Committee regarding the job performance of and salary recommendations for the education staff.
l. When necessary, provide three members to serve on an Educational Search Committee, as

774 775

defined in Article IX(C). m. Prepare and submit a report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting.

n.	Prepare and submit an annual report of Church School enrollment and attendance to the
	Church Office.

777

# **Supporting Committees:**

781 782

The Board for Christian Education shall ensure that the Child Care Committee is appropriately fulfilling its responsibilities.

783 784

785

The Board for Christian Education shall be cognizant of the program and activities of the Cooperative Nursery School. The Chairperson shall acknowledge (via signature) all revisions made to the Cooperative Nursery School Bylaws.

786 787 788

# (4) BOARD FOR MISSIONS

789 790

# Agenda & Goals:

791 792

The Board for Missions shall direct the Church's activities and financial support of Christian service to local, state, national, and global concerns. The work of the Board for Missions shall reflect the annual vision and goals established by the Council.

794 795 796

793

The primary responsibilities of the Board for Missions include:

797 798 799

800

801

1. Programs: The Board for Missions shall direct and coordinate Church involvement, both physical and financial, in support of local, national, and global social programs and issues in need of Christian support.

2. Budget: The Board for Missions shall administer the Church benevolence budget. 3. *Investment*: The Board for Missions shall invest all funds allocated to the longer term benevolence work of the Church.

802 803

#### **Itemization of duties:**

804

805 **Programs** a. Review, develop, and administer the Church's involvement and support of organizations, 806

807 808 809

of the world. b. Propose and administer special offerings (subject to approval at the Budget and Elections Meeting).

agencies, and programs dedicated to furthering Christian service and ideals in all parts

810 811 812

c. Educate and inform the Church membership of the Christian implications of social issues and call for individual or corporate action where needed.

813 814

816

817

818

819

820

821

822

# Budget

- d. Draw up and recommend a preliminary annual benevolence budget to the Council.
- e. Appoint an Assistant Treasurer of Benevolences from among the members of the Board, to be available to assist the Treasurer of Benevolences as needed.
- f. Administer the benevolence budget upon its acceptance and approval by the Church, including supervision of the Treasurer of Benevolences and the Assistant Treasurer of Benevolences, as appropriate.
- g. Designate at least one of its members, in addition to the Treasurer of Benevolences and the Assistant Treasurer of Benevolences, as an authorized signatory on any and all checking

accounts maintained for benevolence funds. Each such checking account shall require two signatures on all checks, unless such check is otherwise exempted by the Board for Missions from this two signature requirement by virtue of the amount or purpose of the check.

826 827 828

829

823

824

825

#### Investment

830 831

832 833 834

835

836 837

838 839

840 841

842

843 844 845

846

847

848 849

850 851 852 853 854 855 856 857 that it may record.

858 859 860

867

868

h. Establish investment policies and make major investment decisions concerning the funds under its control, in consultation with the Treasurer of Benevolences, making sure that such investment policies and decisions are in keeping with commonly accepted guidelines for investment by fiduciaries. The Board for Missions shall oversee the activities of the Treasurer of Benevolences in this regard, and shall ensure that all investments made by the Treasurer, singularly and in the aggregate, are legal for fiduciaries under Connecticut law.

### Administration i. Recommend to the Council a member to represent the Board for Missions on the Personnel Committee

j. Prepare and submit a report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting.

# **Supporting Committees:**

(G) THE COMMITTEES

The Board for Missions shall take an interest in and support the work of the Stewardship Committee, as requested by the Stewardship Committee or the Council.

There shall be thirteen Committees established to assist in the work of the Church. These Committees shall include the Advocacy Panel, the Auditing Committee, the Child Care Committee, the Churchkeeping Committee, the Church Fair Committee, the Cooperative Nursery School Committee, the Flower Committee, the Inreach Committee, the Music Committee, the Nominating Committee, the Personnel Committee, the Stewardship Committee, and the Ushering Committee. The ministerial staff shall be members of each Committee ex officio. Minutes of each meeting of each Committee other than the Advocacy Panel shall be kept, and shall be made available to any member of the Church, upon request, for inspection and copying. Due to the confidential nature of Advocacy Panel proceedings, the Advocacy Panel shall not be required to make public any minutes

Each Committee shall meet as often as its duties and responsibilities may require. Meetings of each Committee shall be open to all members of the Church, and such members shall be made to feel

welcome. Such members, with the permission of the presiding member, may participate in the Committee's discussions. Any member of the Church wishing to address any Committee on any

subject not on such Committee's planned agenda, but within the scope of its responsibilities and interest, shall be allowed to do so if he or she obtains the prior consent of the presiding member of

such Committee, which consent shall not be withheld unreasonably. Notwithstanding the

foregoing, the presiding member of a committee may, under extraordinary circumstances, or at any time in the case of the Stewardship Committee when privileged matters are to be discussed, close

the meeting to all but members of such Committee. The presiding member's reasoning for such closure shall be fully articulated to those members of the Church at the meeting who are not members of such Committee, and shall be noted in the minutes of such meeting.

While it is expected that most Committee members will also be members of the Church, Church membership is not a necessary prerequisite for membership on certain Committees. Nonmembers who demonstrate a commitment to the life of the Church are eligible for election to the Auditing Committee, the Child Care Committee, the Church Fair Committee, the Churchkeeping

Committee, the Cooperative Nursery School Committee, the Flower Committee, the Inreach Committee, the Nominating Committee, the Music Committee, and the Ushering Committee.

Church membership shall be a prerequisite for election or appointment to the Advocacy Panel, the Personnel Committee, the Stewardship Committee, and all Search Committees, due to the access of

these Committees to confidential information.

The primary agenda and goals, duties, and membership and reporting criteria for each Committee are outlined in the following sections.

#### (1) Auditing Committee

#### **Agenda and Goals:**

Audit the financial records of the Church to ensure that controls are properly administered and that financial reports are accurate, timely, and complete.

#### **Itemization of Duties:**

- 1. Audit the financial records of the Treasurer, the Assistant Treasurer, and the Financial Secretary, including deposit and disbursement reports, reconciliation of checking accounts, investment accounts and reports, tax reporting, and the Annual Report of the Treasurer and Assistant Treasurer.
- 2. Audit the financial records of the Treasurer of Benevolences and the Assistant Treasurer of Benevolences, including deposit and disbursement reports, reconciliation of checking accounts, investment accounts and reports, and the Annual Report of the Treasurer of Benevolences and Assistant Treasurer of Benevolences.
- 3. Audit the financial records of the Diaconate Funds. The Auditing Committee shall not be privy to the identity of the recipients of any disbursements from the Diaconate Funds, nor shall it inquire into the specific needs of such recipients of such funds, nonetheless it shall be entitled to make such inquiries of the Diaconate and the ministerial staff as shall be necessary to fulfill its function.
- 4. Prepare and submit a written report to the Annual Meeting attesting to completeness of and satisfaction with all annual audits.
- 5. Prepare and submit a written report to the Council at any time that financial irregularities are detected or suspected. Advise the Council of any concerns regarding financial controls.

Annual audits shall be completed as of the end of each fiscal year. Monthly reconciliations of the primary Church checking accounts shall be regularly performed during the fiscal year. At other times during the year, the Audit Committee is encouraged to discuss relevant issues with each of

the financial recordkeepers, and to conduct such partial audits as it may believe are necessary to assure continued adherence to proper controls and procedures.

917 918 919

915

916

#### **Membership and Reporting**

- The Auditing Committee shall consist of two members who are not Officers or Board members.
- Each member shall serve for a term of two years, with the terms staggered so that only one member is elected each year. The Auditing Committee shall be responsible to the Council.

923 924

925

926

# (2) Advocacy Panel

#### Agenda & Goals:

Provide a means for resolving complaints or allegations of sexual misconduct, harassment or abuse.

927928929

930

931

932

933

934

935

#### **Itemization of Duties:**

- 1. Publicize the membership of the Advocacy Panel at least annually.
- 2. Investigate all complaints or allegations of sexual misconduct, harassment or abuse.
- 3. Make decisions and take action appropriate to resolve any matters before the panel as outlined in the Safe Church Policy as adopted by the Council.
- 4. Record all activities in a confidential manner.
- 5. Notify secular authorities in cases of possible child abuse, with the guidance of the Church's attorney and the Minister (if prudent).

936937938

939

940

941

942

943

944

#### **Membership and Reporting**

The Advocacy Panel shall consist of three members and one alternate, each serving for a term of five years. All terms shall begin and end together, and will not be staggered. No member of the Advocacy Panel may be reelected or reappointed at any time. Two members shall be elected every five years at the Budget and Elections Meeting, in accordance with the Safe Church Policy as adopted by the Council. The Moderator shall appoint one additional member and one alternate, also in accordance with the Safe Church Policy. The Advocacy Panel shall be responsible to the Council.

945946947

948

949

950

#### (3) Child Care Committee

#### Agenda & Goals:

Provide childcare on an as needed basis during special Church services, special programs and business meetings.

951952953

954

955

956

957

958

959

960

#### **Itemization of duties:**

- 1. Ensure that there is adequate childcare available at all special Church services, such as Christmas Eve, Shrove Tuesday and Maundy Thursday.
- 2. Ensure that there is adequate childcare available at all special Church programs, such as the Lenten series, second hours and adult education.
- 3. Ensure that there is adequate childcare available at all business meetings of the Church during the course of the year.
- 4. Establish and maintain standards of adequate child care.

5. Prepare and submit a report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting.

# Membership and Reporting

The Child Care Committee shall consist of three members, each elected for a term of one year. The Committee shall be responsible to the Board for Christian Education.

#### (4) Churchkeeping Committee

# Agenda & Goals:

Oversee the housekeeping aspects of the church and parish house, including the furnishings and their maintenance and replacement.

#### **Itemization of duties:**

- 1. Ensure that the kitchen is properly inventoried and clean. Instruct groups using the kitchen that they are to leave it neat and clean.
- 2. Take care of decorative items throughout the church building, including lighting fixtures, draperies, and curtains.
- 3. Organize cleanup days when such larger projects are warranted.
- 4. Advise the Board of Trustees when furnishings are in need of repair or replacement.
- 5. Prepare and submit a report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting.

# **Membership and Reporting**

The Churchkeeping Committee shall consist of six members, each elected for a term of two years. Three shall be elected each year at the Budget and Elections Meeting. The Committee shall be responsible to the Board of Trustees.

#### (5) Church Fair Committee

#### Agenda & Goals:

Oversee the planning, preparation and management of the annual Church Fair and dinner.

#### **Itemization of duties:**

- 1. Plan and organize the annual Church Fair, including the determination of all booths and activities, and the recruitment of chairpersons for each.
- 2. Plan and organize the annual dinner held in conjunction with the Fair.
- 3. Plan and organize other fund raising activities or events, as desired.
- 4. Maintain appropriate financial records and accounts, to the extent that the Church Treasurer is not directly involved in the financial record keeping and processing. Upon completion of the collections and record keeping, remit net proceeds to the Church Treasurer, subject to the retention of appropriate levels of working capital for the next year's Fair.
- 5. Prepare and submit a written recommendation to the Board of Trustees regarding the allocation of the net proceeds. Said recommendation should be provided to the Board of Trustees no later than the regularly scheduled meeting of the Board of Trustees in the month preceding the Budget and Elections Meeting.
- 6. Prepare and submit a report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting.

# Membership and Reporting

The Church Fair Committee shall consist of nine members, each elected for a term of three years.

Three shall be elected each year at the Budget and Elections Meeting. The Committee shall be responsible to the Board of Trustees.

# (6) Cooperative Nursery School Committee

# **Agenda and Goals:**

Provide general oversight for the Cooperative Nursery School.

#### **Itemization of Duties:**

- 1. Oversee all aspects of the operation of the Cooperative Nursery School, including curriculum, teaching, and finances.
- 2. Assist the Church's Nominating Committee in the recruitment of Committee members as necessary
- 3. Prepare and submit a report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting.
- 4. Prepare and submit minutes of all meetings, as well as policies, procedures, and changes thereof, to the Director of Christian Education and/or the Chairperson of the Board for Christian Education.

# Membership and Reporting

The Cooperative Nursery School Committee shall consist of five members, at least three of whom shall be members of the Church. Each member shall be elected for a term of two years. At each Budget and Elections meeting, two or three members (alternately) shall be elected, at least one of whom shall be a Church member. The Committee shall be responsible to the Board for Christian Education.

#### (7) Flower Committee

## Agenda & Goals:

Provide flowers for regular and special services, as needed, and for their subsequent distribution.

#### **Itemization of duties:**

- 1. Arrange to have flowers in the sanctuary each Sunday and for them to be picked up after services.
- 2. Provide memorial information to the Church Secretary in ample time for inclusion in each worship bulletin.
- 3. Maintain records of memorial flowers so that continuity can be assured from year to year, if desired by the donors.
- 4. Prepare and submit a report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting.

### **Membership and Reporting**

The Flower Committee shall consist of six members elected for a term of two years. Three shall be elected each year at the Budget and Elections Meeting. The Flower Committee shall be responsible to the Diaconate.

#### (8) Inreach Committee

# Agenda & Goals:

1054

1055

1056 1057

1058 1059

1060

1061

1062

1063

1064

1065

1066 1067 1068

1069

1070

1071

1072

1077

1078

1079

1080

1081

1082

1083 1084 1085

1086

1087

1088

1089

Develop and coordinate fellowship activities.

#### Itemization of duties:

- 1. Recruit members and friends for the greeting of worshippers prior to each Sunday morning service, and recruit members and friends to serve coffee and refreshments at each coffee hour following morning worship.
- 2. Plan and organize fellowship activities designed to provide opportunities for informal social interaction of Church members and friends.
- 3. Subject to prior notification and Inreach Committee membership support, assist other Boards and Committees in the hosting of social functions and/or special receptions.
- 4. Prepare and submit a report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting.

### Membership and Reporting

The Inreach Committee shall consist of thirteen members, twelve elected by the Church and one liaison member appointed by the Diaconate. Each member elected by the Church shall be elected for a term of three years. Four of such members shall be elected each year at the Budget and Elections Meeting. The Committee shall work closely with and be responsible to the Diaconate.

# (9) Music Committee

#### Agenda & Goals:

The primary responsibilities of the Music Committee include:

- 1. Program: Encourage interest in and appreciation of music in the Church. Supervise the planning and performance of music in worship services and in special programs.
- 2. Recruitment: Ensure that all musical groups are appropriately filled. Provide members to a Music Search Committee as required.
- 3. Administration: Develop a music budget. Oversee all musical supplies and equipment.

#### **Itemization of duties:**

# Program

- a. Advise and assist the Church Organist and the Choir Director in the planning and performance of music programs serving both the Church and the community.
- b. Periodically assess the general satisfaction of Church members with the music program, including the selection of hymns, anthems, and special music.

#### Recruitment

- c. When necessary, provide three members to serve on a Music Search Committee, as defined in Article IX(B).
- d. Assist the Church Organist and Choir Director in enlisting members for all choirs and musical groups.

1090 1091 1092

1093

1094

1095

#### 1098 Administration

- e. Prepare and recommend to the Diaconate an annual budget for the operation of the entire music program.
- f. Provide input to the Personnel Committee regarding the job performance of and salary recommendations for the Church Organist and Choir Director.
- g. Authorize the expenditure of monies from all endowment funds that are dedicated to the support of music in the Church.
- h. Recommend to the Council a member to represent the Music Committee on the Personnel Committee.
- i. Ensure that supplies of music are appropriately refreshed, maintained, and replenished.
- j. Ensure that all musical instruments and equipment are properly maintained and repaired.
- k. Oversee the cleaning and maintenance of choir robes.
- 1. Prepare and submit a report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting.

# 1112 Membership and Reporting

The Music Committee shall consist of six members, each elected for a term of three years. Two shall be elected each year at the Budget and Elections Meeting. The Church Organist, the Choir Director, and any other members of the music staff shall be members ex officio. The Music Committee shall be responsible to the Diaconate to act in an advisory capacity to them and to the ministerial staff.

### 

#### (10) Nominating Committee

#### Agenda & Goals:

Nominate qualified candidates for Church Officers, the Council, and members of all Boards and Committees.

# 

#### **Itemization of duties:**

- 1. The Committee shall nominate eligible candidates who they deem best qualified to fill all full terms and all vacancies. Prior to approaching potential nominees, the Nominating Committee shall solicit input from each Board and Committee regarding the eligibility requirements for acceptable candidates (including meeting time availability and responsibility expectations). All nominees shall be fully advised of these expectations prior to their commitment to serve. The Committee shall present a complete slate of candidates to the congregation at the Budget and Elections Meeting.
- 2. The Committee shall also nominate delegates to represent the Church at conferences, regional councils, and Association Meetings.
- 3. The Committee shall fill all vacancies that occur during the year in a timely fashion. Church members selected to fill vacancies during the year must be presented to the Council for approval.

# 

#### **Membership and Reporting**

The Nominating Committee shall consist of nine members, each elected for a term of three years. Three shall be elected each year at the Budget and Elections Meeting. The Nominating Committee shall be responsible to the Council.

#### (11) Personnel Committee

# Agenda & Goals:

Oversee the consistent administration of personnel policy for all Church employees, including performance review. Recommend salary actions for all Church employees.

#### **Itemization of Duties:**

- 1. Review, update, and implement a consistent personnel policy (as approved by the Council) for the Church, such policy to include the accountability of employees, nature of employment (elected, appointed), hiring procedures, employment conditions (work week, holidays, benefits, leave), performance evaluation, conflict management, and termination
- 2. Recommend to the Council the terms for the hiring of new employees, and, as appropriate, the dismissal of existing employees. Establish job descriptions for all staff other than the Ministers.
- 3. Carry out (or oversee) the procedure for the timely annual performance evaluation of each paid employee.
- 4. Recommend compensation, salary and compensation ranges, and merit rating procedures for all staff, including ministers, in order to aid the Board of Trustees and the Council in preparing the proposed Annual Budget.
- 5. As necessary, provide one member to serve on a Music Search Committee or an Education Search Committee, as detailed in Article IX(B,C).
- 6. Hear and make recommendations to the Council regarding personnel issues raised by employees or members of the Church.
- 7. Perform such other related duties as the Council may designate.
- 8. Prepare and submit a summary report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting.

#### **Membership and Reporting:**

The Personnel Committee shall be comprised of four Board members (one from each Board), one member from the Music Committee, one at-large member, and the Moderator and Senior Pastor, both ex officio. Members of the Personnel Committee will be appointed by the Council for terms of one year. The Personnel Committee shall be accountable to the Council, and no decision of the Personnel Committee shall be binding unless and until ratified by the Council.

# (12) Stewardship Committee

#### **Agenda and Goals:**

Visualize, plan, and conduct pledge campaigns to secure the funding necessary to balance the local operating budget and the benevolence budget.

#### **Itemization of duties:**

- 1. Organize and conduct programs for raising and increasing pledge income for the Church budgets, and for developing a greater sense of stewardship among all members (including new members) and friends of the Church. Conduct follow-up programs as necessary.
- 2. Maintain a private record of pledges and provide summary reports to the Council, the Board of Trustees, and the Board for Missions. The Committee may receive clerical assistance

in performing its responsibilities without thereby violating its mandate as to keeping 1190 private its records of pledges. 1191 3. Acknowledge all regular and special pledges received. 1192 4. Prepare and submit a report of its activities to the Church at the Annual Meeting. 1193 1194 1195 Membership and Reporting The Stewardship Committee shall consist of six members, each elected for a term of three years, 1196 Two members shall be elected each year at the Budget and Elections Meeting. The Financial 1197 Secretary shall serve as a member ex officio, to provide advice and recordkeeping support to the 1198 1199 Committee. 1200 The Stewardship Committee shall be responsible to the Council. In addition, the Stewardship 1201 1202 Committee is expected to call upon the Diaconate, the Board of Trustees, and the Board for Missions for assistance in the organization and execution of its annual campaigns. 1203 1204 1205 (13) Ushering Committee Agenda & Goals: 1206 The Ushering Committee shall recruit ushers for each Sunday morning worship service. 1207 1208 1209 Itemization of duties: 1. Each member of the Ushering Committee shall be responsible for securing ushers for one 1210 month. Names of weekly ushers shall be provided to the Church office in time to be 1211 included in the bulletin for the related service. 1212 2. The Ushering Committee shall ensure that all established procedures and duties (as 1213 articulated by the Diaconate and Senior Minister) are properly adhered to for each 1214 service. 1215 1216 1217 **Membership and Reporting** The Ushering Committee shall consist of twelve members, each elected for a term of one year. The 1218 Ushering Committee shall be responsible to the Diaconate. 1219 1220 1221 ARTICLE X **PROPERTY** 1222 1223 1224 The Church shall not sell, transfer or dispose of its real property used for worship or ministerial residences nor withdraw from the United Church of Christ except following open discussion at two 1225 special meetings of this Church at least three months apart with a two-thirds affirmative vote at 1226 each such meeting and further provided the meetings have been called and a quorum is present in 1227 accordance with the requirements of this Constitution. 1228 1229 Upon dissolution of the Church, its assets and all property and interests of which it shall then be 1230 possessed, including any devise, bequest, gift or grant contained in any will or other instrument, in 1231 trust or otherwise, made before or after such dissolution, shall be transferred and conveyed to the 1232

- 27 -

Connecticut Conference of the United Church of Christ. No member of the Church shall receive or

be entitled to receive any of the assets of the Church in the event of its dissolution.

1233

1236	
1237	ARTICLE XI
1238	AMENDMENTS
1239	
1240	Amendments to, or revisions of, this Constitution (except amendments to Article IX(A) or X, or
1241	this Article XI), may be adopted by two-thirds vote of the members of the Church present and
1242	voting at a regular or special meeting of the Church. The intent of the amendment(s) or revisions
1243	shall be made known with the call to the meeting and copies of the proposed text of the
1244	amendment(s) or revision(s) shall be posted on the Church's bulletin boards and made available in
1245	the Church offices at least three months in advance of the meeting. Revision of Article IX(A) or X
1246	or this Article XI, shall require affirmative votes at two meetings in the manner set forth in the firs
1247	paragraph of Article X.
1248	
1249	
1250	ARTICLE XII
1251	EFFECTIVE DATE
1252	
1253 1254	This Constitution shall be effective upon its adoption in May, 2003.
1201	